

Pennant Walters Ltd

Trecelyn Wind Farm

Draft Environmental Statement Appendix 7C: Written Scheme of Investigation for Desk-based Assessment





Report for

Pennant Walters

Main contributors

Katie Pitt

Issued by

.....

Katie Pitt

Approved by

Mike Glyde

WSP

Doc Ref. 807379-WOOD-RP-OH-00001 P01.2

Copyright and non-disclosure notice

The contents and layout of this report are subject to copyright owned by WSP (© WSP UK Limited) save to the extent that copyright has been legally assigned by us to another party or is used by WSP under licence. To the extent that we own the copyright in this report, it may not be copied or used without our prior written agreement for any purpose other than the purpose indicated in this report. The methodology (if any) contained in this report is provided to you in confidence and must not be disclosed or copied to third parties without the prior written agreement of WSP. Disclosure of that information may constitute an actionable breach of confidence or may otherwise prejudice our commercial interests. Any third party who obtains access to this report by any means will, in any event, be subject to the Third Party Disclaimer set out below.

Third party disclaimer

Any disclosure of this report to a third party is subject to this disclaimer. The report was prepared by WSP at the instruction of, and for use by, our client named on the front of the report. It does not in any way constitute advice to any third party who is able to access it by any means. WSP excludes to the fullest extent lawfully permitted all liability whatsoever for any loss or damage howsoever arising from reliance on the contents of this report. We do not however exclude our liability (if any) for personal injury or death resulting from our negligence, for fraud or any other matter in relation to which we cannot legally exclude liability.

Management systems

This document has been produced by WSP UK Limited in full compliance with our management systems, which have been certified to ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO 45001 by Lloyd's Register.

Document revisions

No.	Details	Date
1	Draft for internal review	04/07/2023
2	Final	25/09/2023
3	Final	01/11/2023



Contents

1.	Introduction	3	
1.1 1.2	Background Scope	3	
1.3	Site Location and Geology	4	
1.0	One Education and Geology	7	
2.	Legislative Legislation, Policy and Guidance	5	
2.1	Statutory Framework Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023	5 5 5 6 6	
2.2	National Planning Policy and Guidance Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (February 2021) Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)	6 6 6 7	
2.3	Local Planning Policy Caerphilly County Borough Council Local Development Plan	7 7	
2.4	Technical Guidance Wales Archaeological Research Framework	8	
3.	Archaeological and Historic Background	10	
4.	Archaeological Assessment Scope	11	
4.1	Approach	11	
4.2	Research Context	11	
4.3	Standards and Guidance	11	
5.	Standards for Archaeological Work	12	
5.1	Desk-based Assessment Summary and Standards Aims and Objectives Methodology	12 12 12 13	
5.2	Reporting and Archiving Reporting Archiving	14 14 14	
6.	Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE)	15	
Biblic	Bibliography		



Table 2.1 Guidance documents

8



1. Introduction

1.1 Background

- This document presents a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI), prepared by WSP UK Ltd for Pennant Walters (hereafter 'the Client'), for archaeological desk-based assessment to inform proposals for Trecelyn Wind Farm, Caerphilly, hereafter named 'the Site' (**Figure 7C.1**). The Site comprises three parcels of land located as follows: Northern Parcel at ST 23440 98116; Central Parcel at ST 23193 96915; and Southern Parcel at ST 22902 96117. The Proposed Development includes four wind turbines with a maximum tip height of 145m, substation and transformer housing, temporary construction compound, temporary site offices, crane pads and cabling, and access track construction.
- The assessment work is required in relation to proposals for a wind farm (the Project) within the Site (planning application forthcoming). This WSI has been prepared in response to a request from Cadw within Scoping Direction CAS-02114-J9X4S6 dated 02/12/22. As the proposed wind farm will generate more than 10MW it is defined as a Development of National Significance (DNS) and will be considered by an Inspector before being determined by Welsh Ministers. The Project will be subject to Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).

1.2 Scope

- 1.2.1 This WSI has been drafted to cover tasks which are required to provide an archaeological baseline, which is required as part of the EIA for the Project.
- This WSI sets out the scope of archaeological desk study research and reporting required to develop a detailed understanding of the archaeological baseline. This baseline will provide sufficient information to make informed assessments of potential effects arising from direct disturbance to or loss of heritage assets during the construction and operation of the Project. The baseline information may also be used in the identification of a need for any further survey, and in the identification of any mitigation measures required as a result of the Project.
- 1.2.3 This document introduces the overall scheme and archaeological background as well as setting out the overarching procedures and standards for archaeological assessment.
- The document has been prepared in accordance with current guidelines published by the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (2014)¹.
- 1.2.5 The Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (ClfA) describes a WSI as follows:

"In a planning context, the applicant or their agent should provide a WSI in response to the brief. The WSI must be prepared by a competent archaeologist and set out the proposed scheme of investigation in sufficient detail to satisfy the planning archaeologist or monitor that it is an appropriate response to the brief and that works will be appropriate and proportionate to the known/potential remains and the level of impact. It should also

¹ Chartered Institute for Archaeologists 2014 (Revised 2020). Standard and guidance for historic environment desk-based assessment (Online) Available at: https://www.archaeologists.net/codes/cifa (Accessed July 2023).



contain sufficient detail to provide a benchmark against which the results of the work may be measured and must be agreed by all relevant parties before work can commence."

1.3 Site Location and Geology

- The Site is located approximately 450m to the southeast of the settlement of Hafodyrynys and 1.2km to the east of Newbridge. The Central and Southern Parcels border Abercarn Forest. The Site comprises a mix of semi-improved and unimproved grassland, located on the upper slopes (between approximately 340 m and 400 m AOD) of ridges that extend to the west and south-west of the massif formed by Mynydd Llwyd, Mynydd Twyn-glas and Mynydd Maen.
- The Site measures approximately 86 ha and is directly adjacent to another DNS site, the Mynydd Maen Wind Farm (DNS 3276725).
- The bedrock geology is The South Wales Upper Coal Measures Formation, Hughes Member (sandstones with small, localised areas of mudstone and siltstone). The superficial (drift) geology is not recorded (British Geological Survey, 2023).



Legislative Legislation, Policy and Guidance

2.1 Statutory Framework

Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979²

2.1.1 The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act (1979) sets out that sites considered to be of national importance are required to be compiled in a Schedule of Monuments. Scheduled monuments may include any above or below ground building, structure or work which fulfils the criteria for scheduling set out by the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport. These sites are accorded statutory protection and Scheduled Monument Consent is required before any works are carried out which would have the effect of demolishing, destroying, damaging, removing, repairing, altering, adding to, flooding or covering up a Scheduled Ancient Monument. Scheduled monument protection is offered not only to the known structures and remains of a site but also to the soil under and around them to protect any archaeological interest. This act also provided for the designation of Areas of Archaeological Interest in which statutory provisions for access to construction sites for carrying out archaeological works apply.

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990³

- 2.1.2 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 covers the registration of Listed Buildings (buildings that are seen to be of special architectural or historic interest) and designation of Conservation Areas (areas of special architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance).
- A Listed Building may not be demolished, altered or extended in any manner which would affect its character as a building of special architectural or historic interest without Listed Building Consent being granted. There are three Grades of listing (in descending order):
 - Grade I: buildings of exceptional interest;
 - Grade II*: particularly important buildings of more than special interest; and
 - Grade II: buildings of special interest, warranting every effort to preserve them.
- The 1990 Act requires local planning authorities to draw up and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas and sets out a duty to consider the desirability of preserving the character of a Conservation Area in planning decisions. The act also gives local planning authorities the ability to control demolition and other works in Conservation Areas which would not normally require planning permission.

-

² UK Public General Act (1979) Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 (Online). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1979/46/contents/2006-10-01 (Accessed July 2023).

³ UK Public General Act (1990) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Online). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents (Accessed July 2023).



The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016⁴

- 2.1.5 The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 made a number of amendments to the 1979 and 1990 Acts to address the needs of the Welsh historic environment. It also introduced several stand-alone provisions for Wales.
- 2.1.6 The 2016 Act gave more effective protection to listed buildings and scheduled monuments, enhanced existing mechanisms for the sustainable management of the historic environment, and introduced greater transparency and accountability into decisions taken on the historic environment.

The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023⁵

- 2.1.7 The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 made provision to consolidate legislation relating to the historic environment in Wales in a fully bilingual and accessible format. It provides for the protection of monuments, buildings and conservation areas by bringing together and restating already-existing legislation (both primary and secondary) in one place.
- Although the legislation is now an Act of Senedd Cymru, it will not be brought into force until the latter part of 2024.

2.2 National Planning Policy and Guidance

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021)⁶

- Planning Policy Wales sets out the Welsh Government's land use planning policies. Its primary objective is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation.
- 2.2.2 Chapter 6, 'Distinctive and Natural Places', explains how planning system must take into account the Welsh Government's objectives to protect, conserve, promote and enhance the historic environment as a resource for the general well-being of present and future generations. It also sets out the planning policies for the sustainable management of specific categories of historic assets.

Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (February 2021)⁷

2.2.3 The National Development Framework Future Wales – the National Plan 2040, sets out the Welsh Government's land use priorities and provides a national land use framework. The development plan for Wales influences all levels of the planning system in Wales and

November 2023

⁴ National Assembly for Wales (2016) Historic Environment (Wales) Act. (Online). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/4/contents (Accessed July 2023).

⁵ National Assembly for Wales (2023) Historic Environment (Wales) Act. (Ónline). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2023/3/contents/enacted (Accessed July 2023).

⁶ Welsh Government (2021). Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (Online). Available at: https://gov.wales/planning-policy-wales (Accessed July 2023).

Welsh Government (2021). Future Wales: the national plan 2040 (Online). Available at: https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf (Accessed July2023).



- helps to shape Strategic and Local Development Plans prepared by councils and national park authorities.
- Policy 35 'Valleys Regional Park' is relevant to south-east Wales. "The Welsh Government supports the establishment of the Valleys Regional Park. Strategic and Local Development Plans should embed its principles into their planning frameworks. The Welsh Government will work with local authorities, the third sector and key partners to support the Valleys Regional Park and maximise opportunities for new development."
- "The Welsh Government, communities and partners have developed a positive framework through 'Our Valleys, Our Future' to drive change and regeneration. The Valleys Regional Park seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental potential of the Valleys' natural and cultural heritage assets and it is important the planning system supports its delivery."

Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)8

- This technical advice note provides guidance on how the planning system considers the historic environment during development plan preparation and decision making on planning and listed building consent applications. It also provides specific guidance on how the following historic assets should be considered:
 - scheduled monuments;
 - archaeological remains;
 - listed buildings;
 - conservation areas:
 - historic parks and gardens;
 - historic landscapes;
 - historic assets of special local interest; and
 - world heritage sites.

2.3 Local Planning Policy

Caerphilly County Borough Council Local Development Plan9

- The current Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted on 23 November 2010. The Local Development Plan identifies where new developments such as housing, employment, community facilities and roads, will go. Preparation has commenced on a 2nd Replacement LDP up to 2035.
- The historic environment is considered in Strategy Policy 6 of the Local Development Plan, Placemaking. 'Development proposals should contribute to creating sustainable places by having full regard to the context of the local, natural, historic and built environment and its special features through:

-

⁸ Cadw, Welsh Government (2017). Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment. (Online) Available at: https://gov.wales/technical-advice-note-tan-24-historic-environment (Accessed July 2023).

Gaerphilly County Borough Council (2010). Local Development Plan up to 2021 (Adopted November 2010). (Online). Available at: https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphilly.docs/ldp/written-statement.aspx (Accessed July 2023).



A An appropriate mix of uses that reflect the role and function of settlements

B A high standard of design that reinforces attractive qualities of local distinctiveness

C Design in accordance with best practice in terms of designing out crime

D A location and layout that reflects sustainable transport and accessibility principles and provides full, easy and safe access for all

E The incorporation of resource efficiency and passive solar gain through layout, materials, construction techniques, water conservation, and where appropriate the use of sustainable drainage systems

F The efficient use of land, including higher densities where development is close to key transport nodes

G The incorporation and enhancement of existing natural heritage features

H The incorporation of mitigation measures that improve and maintain air quality.'

2.4 Technical Guidance

Guidance documents which are relevant to this WSI are listed in **Table 2.1**.

Table 2.1 Guidance documents

Guidance	Relevance	
Cadw		
Setting of Historic Assets in Wales 2017 ¹⁰	Sets out the principles used to assess the potential impacts of development or land management proposals within the settings of World Heritage Sites, ancient monuments (scheduled and unscheduled), listed buildings, registered historic parks and gardens, and conservation areas.	
Conservation Principles for the sustainable management of the historic environment in Wales 2011 ¹¹	Set out six guiding principles for the conservation of the historic environment.	
Professional Guidance		
Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA) Standard and guidance for archaeological desk-based assessment 2014 ¹²	Sets out standards for the production of archaeological desk- based assessments.	

¹⁰ Cadw, Welsh Government 2017. Setting of Historic Assets in Wales. (Online) Available at: https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/setting-historic-assets (Accessed July 2023).

. .

¹¹ Cadw, Welsh Government 2011. Conservation Principles for the Sustainable Management of the Historic Environment in Wales. (Online). Available at: <a href="https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/conservation-principles/

¹² Chartered Institute for Archaeologists 2014 (Revised 2020). Standard and guidance for historic environment desk-based assessment (Online) Available at: https://www.archaeologists.net/codes/cifa (Accessed July 2023).



Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA) Standard and guidance for commissioning work or providing consultancy advice on archaeology and the historic environment 2014¹³

Sets out standards for the provision of consultancy advice in the historic environment.

Wales Archaeological Research Framework

This resource provides relevant archaeological research assessment and research agenda for Wales. The series of publications is organised by chronological period from the Palaeolithic to the modern period, and provides a viable, realistic and effective academic basis for undertaking archaeological intervention.

_

¹³ Chartered Institute for Archaeologists 2014. Standard and guidance for commissioning work or providing consultancy advice on archaeology and the historic environment (Online) Available at: https://www.archaeologists.net/codes/cifa (Accessed July 2023).



3. Archaeological and Historic Background

- There are three records of non-designated historic assets located within the Site boundary, a post medieval bee-bowl (GGAT11121g), pool (GGAT04981g) and farmhouse (GGAT04973g), which indicate that the Site has a history of pastoral and agricultural use.
- There are no designated historic assets located within the Site boundary. One listed building lies on the periphery of the 1km study area to the north-west of the Site. No scheduled monuments, conservation areas, World Heritage Sites or registered historic landscapes are located within the 1km study area.
- Between 1km and 5km from the Site there are eleven scheduled monuments, the closest being Charcoal Blast Furnace at Abercarn (Cadw 1441) at 1.24km from the Site to the south-west and Former Dam of Cwmcarn Canal Reservoir (Cadw 3493) at 2.24km from the Site to the south. One registered park and garden is located within the 5km study area at 4.88km to the north-east of the Site. There are eight conservation areas, the closest being Newbridge at 1.77km to the west and Cwmcarn Memorial Park at 2.26km to the south. There are a further 231 listed buildings within 1km-5km.
- 3.1.4 No World Heritage Sites or registered historic landscapes are located within 1km-5km from the Site.
- There are two registered historic landscapes within 10km from the site, at distances of c.8km from the Site. These are Blaenavon registered landscape of outstanding historic interest and Gelli-Gaer Common registered landscape of outstanding historic interest. They represent rare and important historic landscapes and as such are included in the national Register of Landscapes of Historic Interest in Wales: Part 2:2: Landscapes of Special Historic Interest (2001).
- The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site is located c.8 km to the north of the Site.



4. Archaeological Assessment Scope

4.1 Approach

- 4.1.1 The proposed archaeological investigation methods comprise:
 - A Desk-based Assessment.

4.2 Research Context

It is important to set the scope of the assessment work and the results obtained into a wider framework for archaeological research and investigation.

4.3 Standards and Guidance

- 4.3.1 All elements of the work will be carried out by staff with sufficient competence and experience to perform the tasks to recognised acceptable professional standards. The overall programme of archaeological works will be managed by an accredited member of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (ClfA) or someone of equivalent competence and experience, and the reporting will be carried out by a suitably experienced archaeologist, competent in the tasks required of them.
- 4.3.2 All work will be carried out in compliance with the following professional standards and guidance:
 - ClfA 2014. Code of Conduct;
 - ClfA (2014, revised 2020). Standard and guidance for historic environment deskbased assessment;
 - Cadw 2017. Setting of Historic Assets in Wales.
 - The Welsh Archaeological Trusts 2022. Guidance for the Submission of Data to the Welsh Historic Environment Records.
 - The National Panel for Archaeological Archives in Wales 2017. The National Standard and Guidance to Best Practice for Collecting and Depositing Archaeological Archives in Wales.
 - The Royal Commission for the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales 2015.
 RCAHMW Guidelines for Digital Archives.



5. Standards for Archaeological Work

5.1 Desk-based Assessment

Summary and Standards

- To understand the potential for and significance of archaeological remains, a desk-based assessment will be produced.
- This WSI sets out a programme of works to ensure that the desk-based assessment will meet the standard required by The Chartered Institute for Archaeologist's (ClfA) Standard and guidance for historic environment desk-based assessment (2014, revised 2020). ClfA defines desk-based assessment as:

"Desk-based assessment is a programme of study of the historic environment within a specified area or site on land, in the inter-tidal zone or underwater that addresses agreed research and/or conservation objectives. It consists of an analysis of existing written, graphic, photographic and electronic information in order to identify the likely heritage assets, their interests and significance; the character of the study area, including appropriate consideration of the settings of heritage assets;"

- 5.1.3 The desk-based assessment will involve review of the following data sources covering a study area of 1 km from the Site boundary, extending to 5 km for designated assets:
 - Historic Environment Record.
 - National Monument Record.
 - Designated Asset data.
 - Portable Antiquities Scheme data.
 - Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR).
 - Historic maps.
 - Aerial photographs.
 - Published sources (works, reports and other information relevant to the desk-based assessment, consulted via online sources and The Glamorgan Archives as available).
- 5.1.4 A site walkover will also be undertaken.

Aims and Objectives

The primary purpose of the desk-based assessment is to describe and assess the historic environment resource within the Site in order to support an assessment of effects of the Project (to be reported in an Environmental Statement), and to inform the need for and scope of any further survey work.



Methodology

Data Collection

- Data will be collected from the Glamorgan-Gwent Historic Environment Record (GGHER) within a 1 km study area from the Site boundary. Information collected will include data on monuments, finds and archaeological investigations, sources for all investigations, links to aerial photos, information on Historic Landscape Character, conservation areas and information about nationally important sites. The data held by the Royal Commission for the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales (RCAHMW) in the National Monuments Record of Wales will also be checked.
- Data will be collected from Cadw within a 5 km study area from the Site boundary. Information collected will include all nationally protected historic buildings and sites in Wales comprising listed buildings, scheduled monuments, protected wrecks, registered parks and gardens, registered landscapes, world heritage sites and battlefields.
- 5.1.8 Where available, data will be collected from the Portable Antiquities Scheme within a 1 km study area from the Site boundary. The data will comprise information on archaeological objects found by metal detector users or the public.

LiDAR

- 5.1.9 LiDAR data will be obtained for the Site and its immediate environs and processed in QGIS to produce hill shade and contour shaded representation of the Site.
- The source data will comprise 2m digital terrain model (DTM) tiles that will be merged to form a continuous model across the Site. The data will be presented in QGIS as a Local Relief Model (LRM) with suitable attributes to reveal any historic environment features in the landscape. LRM is regarded as the most effective LiDAR imagery for the identification of discreet archaeological features as it "filters out" terrain surfaces leaving otherwise discreet archaeological features and their relative elevation above or below the surrounding terrain (Kokalj *et al.* 2013: 107).
- The imagery will be analysed alongside existing national datasets (listed under Data Gathering Methodology section). This reference material will be used to cross-check features identified on the LiDAR imagery. The results will be incorporated into the baseline report.

Historic Maps

- A variety of historic maps will be consulted to gain an understanding and inform how the Site and surrounding study area have developed over time.
- 5.1.13 Where available, tithe maps (and apportionments), estate maps and any other relevant historical maps will be consulted via online sources and The Glamorgan Archives.
- Ordnance Survey maps dating to the 19th and 20th century will be consulted at the following scales of 1:10,000; 1:10,560; 1:2,500 and 1:1,250 scales.

Aerial Photography

Provision will be made for the analysis of aerial photographs of the Site dating from the early 20th century to the present. This analysis will help to identify previous land uses. An aerial photographic analysis will also include the study of cropmarks, soilmarks and earthworks to identify features that otherwise may not be visible at the present time. A



range of sources will be consulted as appropriate including the RCAHMW, Britain from Above and the Central Registry for Aerial Photography Wales (CRAPW).

Site walkover

- 5.1.16 A Site walkover will be undertaken by a surveyor with photographic and recording equipment.
- The surveyor will adhere to safe and agreed access locations at all times. The collection of the data summarised above will be used to inform the baseline outline in the desk-based assessment

5.2 Reporting and Archiving

Reporting

- The desk-based assessment will be produced as a document that will form a baseline report to be appended to the Environmental Statement.
- 5.2.2 The report will include:
 - a statement of the objectives and methods of the study;
 - identification of areas of known and possible archaeological or historic landscape interest, together with brief justification of such identification, and a preliminary indication of their likely importance including areas of multiple cultural heritage interest;
 - the anticipated degree of survival of any archaeological site or area so identified;
 - summary maps at an appropriate scale and plans at an appropriate scale of the study area maps on which are plotted basic data related to the study in question.
 - a comprehensive bibliography of sources of information consulted, including those with no useful information;
 - consideration of the evidence assembled within a wider landscape setting;
 - a critical review of the effectiveness of the methodology employed;
 - an assessment of aerial photographs;
 - consideration of LiDAR imagery. The assessment should make clear where the data was obtained and how it has been processed;
 - the plottings of the Historic Landscape Characterisation and an assessment of the impact of any development on the landscape character.

Archiving

- A digital copy of the report will be supplied to the Glamorgan-Gwent Historic Environment Record (HER) on the understanding that it will become a public document after an appropriate period of time (generally not exceeding six months).
- A project archive will be prepared in accordance with the National Monuments Record (Wales) agreed structure and be deposited with the National Monuments Record, RCAHMW, on completion of the site analysis and report production.



6. Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE)

- Health and Safety will take priority over all other requirements. A conditional aspect of all archaeological work is both safe access to the area of work and a safe working environment. All relevant Health and Safety legislation (Health and Safety at Work Act 1974), regulations and codes of practice will be respected and adhered to.
- The survey will be carried out in accordance with safe working practices and under the defined Health, Safety and Environmental Policy. All equipment must be suitable for the purpose and in sound condition and comply with Health and Safety Executive recommendations.
- Where conflict between Health and Safety and progressing the archaeological survey is identified, every effort will be made by the client, in discussion with the archaeological contractors, to identify a safe way of completing the archaeological investigations to appropriate standards.
- 6.1.4 Any specific site security requirements will be arranged prior to access to the Site. These will be discussed and agreed with the client.



Bibliography

British Geological Survey, 2023. *Geology of Britain Viewer* (online). https://mapapps.bgs.ac.uk/geologyofbritain/home.html. Accessed on 04 July 2023.

Chartered Institute for Archaeologists, 2014. Code of Conduct.

Chartered Institute for Archaeologists. 2014 (revised 2020). Standard and guidance for historic environment desk-based assessment.

Kokalj, Z, Zaksek, K., and Ostir, K. 2013 'Visualisations of lidar derived relief models', in R. Opitz and D. Cowley (eds.) *Interpreting Archaeological Topography*, Oxford, Oxbow, pp. 100-114.

The National Panel for Archaeological Archives in Wales, 2017. The National Standard and Guidance to Best Practice for Collecting and Depositing Archaeological Archives in Wales.

Royal Commission for the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales, 2015. *RCAHMW Guidelines for Digital Archives.*

The Welsh Archaeological Trusts, 2022. *Guidance for the Submission of Data to the Welsh Historic Environment Records.*



